BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 24-27

SCA EFiled: Mar 22 2024

Transaction ID 72590021

06:40PM EDT

ELAINE NEIDIG, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Petitioner,

v.

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF

On Certified Question from the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit Case No. 22-2227

Anthony J. Majestro, Esquire WVSB # 5165 Counsel of Record POWELL & MAJESTRO PLLC 405 Capitol Street, Suite 807 Charleston, WV 25301 Tel: 304-346-2889

Fax: 304-346-2895

amajestro@powellmajestro.com

Counsel for Petitioner Elaine Neidig

INTRODUCTION

This case is simple. Petitioner Elaine Neidig and thousands of other West Virginia consumers purchased worthless mammograms from Respondent Valley Health System ("Valley"). When Ms. Neidig was informed by Valley (at the demand of its government regulator) that her purchase of the service was worthless, she requested a refund. Valley refused. Ms. Neidig then brought this lawsuit seeking to recover her pure economic loss for having paid for a service that Valley later told her was worthless.

Valley argues that it doesn't have to refund Ms. Neidig's payments because, according to it, she suffered a "medical injury" and, therefore, this case involves a claim for "medical professional liability" governed by the Medical Professional Liability Act ("MPLA"). Not so.

This case is no more one of medical professional liability than a run of the mine billing dispute would be. The MPLA is directed at personal injury claims – not pure economic losses. To trigger a medical professional liability claim under the MPLA, the claim must involve the "death or injury of a person" is

¹ W. Va. Code § 55-7B-1, et seq.

 $^{^2}$ W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(i).

a personal injury. Ms. Neidig's claims are for economic loss. They do not involve a death or injury to her person. It's that simple.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

This case is before this Court on a certified question from the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit. In its order, the Court set forth the following Certified Question:

Whether a plaintiff's claims can fall under the West Virginia Medical Professional Liability Act if the plaintiff disclaims any form of physical or emotional injury.³

While Fourth Circuit did not provide an answer its Certified Question,⁴ the United States District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia effectively answered the Certified Question in the affirmative, and Petitioner assigns its conclusion and every subsidiary question fairly comprised therein as error.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms. Neidig is a natural person and resident of West Virginia.⁵ Valley operates facilities and advertises in West Virginia.⁶ Ms. Neidig was exposed to

³ JA 290.

⁴ *Id.*; *cf.* W.Va. R. App. Pro. 17(a)(5) ("the petitioner's brief must assign the specific points of legal error that arise from the [state] circuit court's answer to the certified question").

⁵ JA 005.

⁶ JA 006-008.

Valley's advertisements in West Virginia by phone and mail, , and thereafter chose to purchase mammogram services from Valley. Specifically, Ms. Neidig paid Valley for three mammograms during, the years 2016, 2017, and 2019. The average cost of those three mammograms as billed was \$542.00.9

Following an investigation, in July 2019 the Food and Drug Administration determined that Valley's staff were performing mammograms improperly, resulting in "serious image-quality deficiencies that constituted "a serious risk to human health." Valley's accreditation to perform these services was canceled. In a letter dated December 16, 2019, Valley informed Ms. Neidig of the FDA's finding noting "a serious concern about the quality of the mammography that our facility performed between June 20, 2017, and August 31, 2019." Such severe deficiency clashed with Valley's representations about the quality of the healthcare services it offered.

 $^{^{7}}$ JA 008, at ¶¶ 15–16.

⁸ JA 008.

⁹ *Id*.

¹⁰ JA 009, at ¶¶ 25–27.

¹¹ JA 024.

¹² JA 009, at ¶ 28; JA 025.

¹³ JA 009.

Ms. Neidig requested a refund.¹⁴ Valley refused, denying liability.¹⁵ Because Valley did not *reimburse* Ms. Neidig for what turned out to be effectively worthless mammograms, she sustained an economic loss in the form of overpayment for those deficient mammograms.¹⁶

Ms. Neidig filed her Class Action Complaint ("Complaint") on August 3, 2022, in the Circuit Court of Jefferson County, West Virginia. The Complaint named Valley as the sole defendant and asserted claims for violations of the West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act ("WVCCPA"), unjust enrichment, and breach of contract on behalf of a putative class.

On September 20, 2022, Valley removed this case to the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia, under the Class Action Fairness Act.²² A week later, Valley moved for the dismissal of the Complaint in its entirety.²³ Valley moved to dismiss under both Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1)

¹⁴ JA 012 at ¶48.

 $^{^{15}}$ *Id*.

¹⁶ JA 010, at ¶¶ 33–35.

¹⁷ JA 005.

¹⁸ JA 010–012.

¹⁹ JA 012–013.

²⁰ JA 013.

²¹ JA 013-015.

²² JA 027–035.

²³ JA 036–037.

and (b)(6), arguing, with regard to the former, that the federal district court lacked subject-matter jurisdiction because Ms. Neidig allegedly had not complied with pre-suit notice requirements under the MPLA.²⁴ As to Rule 12(b)(6), Valley argued that Ms. Neidig's claims were actually subject to the MPLA, including its two-year statute of limitations, so as to be time-barred.²⁵ Valley averred that this was so "for two primary reasons": (1) because of the 2015 augmentation of the MPLA's definition of "medical professional liability," the statute embraced her claims generally; and (2) because Blankenship v. Ethicon, Inc. was "analogous," the court should just rely on that decision.²⁶ Valley's dismissal motion did not mention the word "anchor." It did not mention the word "personal," as in "personal injury," either.²⁸ It did not address why W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(i) includes the modifying phrase "of a person" or mention that the MPLA amended the common law of personal injury.²⁹

On October 31, 2022, the district court granted Valley's dismissal motion on just the Rule 12(b)(6) ground, reasoning that "there can be no doubt that a

²⁴ JA 038.

²⁵ JA 038–039.

²⁶ JA 042-044.

²⁷ JA 038–047.

 $^{^{28}}$ *Id*.

²⁹ *Id*.

mammogram falls under the West Virginia Legislature's definition for health care."³⁰ Then, the trial court simply stated, "All of Ms. Neidig's claims are based upon the substandard mammograms she received from Valley."³¹ Those two steps of reasoning—"health care" and contemporaneous/related claims generally—was all that court needed to conclude that "Ms. Neidig [was] unable to escape the MPLA's broad reach."³² Tracking Valley's motion, the trial court's dismissal order did not contain the word "anchor" or the phrase "personal injury" at all.³³

On November 28, 2022, Ms. Neidig noticed her appeal to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit.³⁴ In her appellate brief, filed on January 23, 2023, Ms. Neidig framed the issue on appeal:

Whether the four-year limitations period of West Virginia's Consumer Credit & Protection Act ("WVCCPA"), W. Va. Code § 46A-6-101 *et seq.* governs a case against a medical provider where the damages sought are purely statutory and economic and there is no claim of bodily injury or death.³⁵

In her brief, Ms. Neidig argued that, because she did not allege "death or injury

³⁰ JA 125.

 $^{^{31}}$ *Id*.

 $^{^{32}}$ *Id*.

³³ JA 120–126.

³⁴ JA 127.

³⁵ JA 141 (emphasis added).

to her person," the MPLA does not apply to her case. ³⁶ Following oral argument, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit entered the order presenting to this Court the Certified Question, as stated above. ³⁷

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a consumer case seeking only economic losses. Ms. Neidig sued because she did not get what she paid for. She did not bring a medical malpractice action. Her claims stem from misrepresentations that lead to only economic loss without any allegations of personal injury or death. The district court's holding improperly expanded the MPLA's reach to include "health care"-related actions devoid of allegations of personal injury. In so doing, the trial court allowed the MPLA to invade the rightful domain of the WVCCPA, impliedly providing entities covered by the MPLA carte blanche to escape liability for consumer-protection claims seeking purely economic damages.

The MPLA applies only in cases of "medical professional liability" which statutorily requires a claim involving "death or injury of a person" to trigger the MPLA. As an "injury of a person" requires a physical or at least an emotional injury, Ms. Neidig's claims of pure economic loss are outside the MPLA. While the MPLA can be triggered by claims that are contemporaneous

 $^{^{36}}$ JA 148 (emphasis added).

³⁷ JA 288–308.

³⁸ JA 120–126.

to or related to an "anchor claim" under this Court's precedents, the anchor claim must still arise from a death or injury to a person. This Court has never held to the contrary and should not do so here.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral argument pursuant to W. Va. R. App. P. 20(a) is necessary as this appeal presents issues of first impression in a case involving issues of fundamental public importance.

ARGUMENT

I. The MPLA Requires a Personal Injury or Death.

Given that everything Valley—or any healthcare provider—sells, prices, advertises, represents, etc. will ostensibly somehow relate to "health care," and that every civil suit will allege some kind of "injury," a practical effect of the district court's flawed interpretation of the MPLA is to functionally exempt healthcare providers from WVCCPA liability.³⁹ The district court erred by ignoring the phrase the "death or injury of *a person*" demanded by W. Va. Code §§ 55-7B-2(i) and 55-7B-4(a)-(b) and the meaning of "medical injury," especially as used in W. Va. Code § 55-7B-4(a)-(b). In doing so, the district court lost sight of the fact that the MPLA is and always has been a personal injury

 $^{40}\ Compare$ W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(i) (emphasis added) with JA 124–125.

³⁹ JA 124–125.

statute that amended the common law of personal injury which has no application to the pure economic losses for which the WVCCPA controls.

As explained fully below, the MPLA requires a *personal* injury or death to a patient to be applicable. Because Ms. Neidig has not alleged a personal injury and is very much alive, the MPLA does not apply to her case against Valley.

A. The plain statutory language of the MPLA limits its applicability to claims involving physical or emotional injury.

As the Fourth Circuit recognized, the MPLA applies only when a plaintiff sues for "medical professional liability' as those terms are defined under the Act."⁴¹ The MPLA defines "[m]edical professional liability" as

any liability for *damages resulting from the death or injury of a person* for any tort or breach of contract based on health care services rendered, or which should have been rendered, by a health care provider or health care facility to a patient. It also means other claims that may be contemporaneous to or related to the alleged tort or breach of contract or otherwise provided, all in the context of rendering health care services.⁴²

9

⁴¹ JA 294–295 (quoting *State ex rel. W. Va. Div. of Corr. & Rehab. V. Ferguson*, 889 S.E.2d 44, 53 (W. Va. 2023)).

 $^{^{\}rm 42}$ W. Va. Code \S 55-7B-2(i) (emphasis added).

Ms. Neidig's claims do not meet the definition of medical professional liability claims as they are not claims for "damages resulting from the death or injury of a person" because she claims no physical or emotional injury.⁴³

1. The plain meaning of the phrase "death or injury of a person" is a personal injury.

In the Fourth Circuit, Valley argued that the MPLA does *not* demand a personal injury.⁴⁴ Citing *Black's Law Dictionary*, Valley argued that, because the Legislature used the phrase "personal injury" in another statute, it "knows the difference" and thereby intended for West Virginia's primary medical professional liability statute to, inexplicably, pertain to harms that have nothing to do with *medical* injury, even though that adjective is used throughout the statute.⁴⁵ Of course, Valley has no explanation why the Legislature *did* specify that "medical professional liability" concerns "death or injury *of a person*" and what that means if it does not refer to, again, *personal* injury.

The Legislature did not define medical professional liability as merely "death or injury" negating Valley's argument that the West Virginia Legislature intended "injury" to be something broader than personal injury.

⁴³ *Id*.

⁴⁴ JA 193.

⁴⁵ *Id*.

 $^{^{46}}$ See W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(i)(emphasis added).

Valley's reading of the statute improperly reads the phrase "of a person" out of the statute.⁴⁷ Indeed, as the Fourth Circuit noted: "[t]he definition of "[m]edical professional liability" at issue here... places "injury" alongside "death," again most naturally encompassing physical injury arising from medical malpractice.⁴⁸ Thus, the plain meaning of the phrase "death or injury of a person" is a personal injury.

Elsewhere, the Legislature has used the terms personal injury and injury of a person interchangeably in the same statutes.⁴⁹ And, where the Legislature intends to include economic injuries in addition to injuries to a person, it does so explicitly.⁵⁰

_

⁴⁷ Syl. Pt. 11, *Brooke B. v. Ray*, 230 W. Va. 355, 738 S.E.2d 21 (2013) ("courts are not to eliminate through judicial interpretation words that were purposely included[.]")).

⁴⁸ JA 304 (citing § 55-7B-2(i)).

⁴⁹ See e.g., W. Va. Code § 17C-4-1(a) (subsection of code setting forth duties when "driver of any vehicle involved in a crash resulting in the injury to or death of any person" contained in section entitled "Crashes involving death or personal injuries"); W. Va. Code § 19-18-1(a) (subsection of code creating liability for "damages for personal injury or property damage" in section entitled "damages for injuries to person or property").

⁵⁰ See e.g., W. Va. Code § 17A-4A-11 ("Article to create no cause of action against such lienor for damage to property or injury to person."); W. Va. Code § 19-18-1 (section relating to "damages for injuries to person or property"); W. Va. Code § 61-5A-2(9) ("Harm" means loss to a person, physical injury of a person or injury to the property of a person, including loss to, physical injury of or injury to the property of any other person in whose welfare he is interested); compare W. Va. Code § 17C-4-1(a) (setting forth duties when "driver of any vehicle involved in a crash resulting in the injury to or death of any person") with W. Va. Code § 17C-4-2 (setting forth duties when "driver of any vehicle involved in a crash resulting only in damage to a vehicle").

2. Other provisions of the MPLA confirm that it only applies in the case of death or personal injury.

Other MPLA provisions confirm that death or a physical/emotional injury is required to trigger the MPLA. The MPLA defines "[i]njury" as "injury or death to a patient arising or resulting from the rendering of or failure to render health care." W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(h). And, as the Fourth Circuit noted, "[t]his definition, in the medical context, most naturally points to a physical injury, particularly because [the MPLA] provides a single definition defining 'Injury' and 'Medical injury' together." Relatedly, Valley completely ignores the MPLA's use of "medical injury" throughout the statute, including in the right-of-action provision that would apply to Ms. Neidig. 52

Moreover, if the MPLA applies in cases involving only economic injuries, this would lead to absurd results in the application of its other provisions. For example, an MPLA claim requires that the plaintiff establish that "the health care provider failed to exercise that degree of care, skill and learning required or expected of a reasonable, prudent health care provider in the profession or class to which the health care provider belongs acting in the same or similar circumstances." While this standard makes sense in the context of a

 $^{^{51}}$ JA 304 (citing \S 55-7B-2(h)) (underscore added italics by court).

⁵² See W. Va. Code § 55-7B-4(a).

 $^{^{53}}$ W. Va. Code § 55-7B-3(a)(1).

professional negligence claim, application to economic loss cases would be strained at best.

The results become even more absurd when one tries to apply the MPLA's provisions regarding prerequisites for suit to cases of economic injury only. In cases where expert testimony is necessary, the putative MPLA plaintiff is required to file a screening certificate of merit that is "executed under oath by a health care provider who... [d]evoted, at the time of medical injury, 60 percent of his or her professional time annually to the active clinical practice in his or her medical field or specialty, or to teaching in his or her medical field or specialty in an accredited university."54 The expert health care provider providing the screening certificate of merit must also meet two of the expert witness requirements – that the medical expert "maintains a current license to practice medicine with the appropriate licensing authority of any state of the United States" and that "the expert witness is engaged or qualified in a medical field in which the practitioner has experience and/or training in diagnosing or treating injuries or conditions similar to those of the patient."55 For expert trial testimony in a MPLA action, in addition to the licensing and

_

⁵⁴ W. Va. Code § 55-7B-6(b)(3).

 $^{^{55}}$ W. Va. Code § 55-7B-6(b)(2) (emphasis added) (incorporating § 55-7B-7(a)(5) and § 55-7B-7(a)(6)).

practice requirements also applicable to the screening certificate of merit,⁵⁶ the expert must meet several additional provisions including: that the expert's "opinion can be testified to with reasonable medical probability"⁵⁷ and that "(4) the expert witness's opinion is grounded on scientifically valid peer-reviewed studies if available."⁵⁸

These provisions make little sense in the context of cases involving only economic losses. Courts will struggle on how to apply them and reach absurd results that will be appealed. The existence of these absurd results is strong evidence that the MPLA was intended to only apply to injuries to a person that manifest physically.⁵⁹

* * * * *

Because of its failure to properly place the MPLA in the context of personal injury or wrongful death claims, Valley misconstrues the statute, resulting in a version of the MPLA where all one needs to trigger coverage is

⁵⁶ W.Va. Code §§ 55-7B-7(a)(5), (6).

 $^{^{57}}$ W.Va. Code \S 55-7B-7(a)(2) (emphasis added).

⁵⁸ W.Va. Code § 55-7B-7(a)(4) (emphasis added).

⁵⁹ Syl. Pt. 1, *Justice v. W. Va. Office of Ins. Comm'n*, 230 W. Va. 80, 736 S.E.2d 80 (2012) ("Where a particular construction of a statute would result in an absurdity, some other reasonable construction, which will not produce such absurdity will be made.").

an "injury" of any kind that is somehow derived from "health care." 60 This is not what the Legislature provided for in the MPLA, nor what it intended.

This Court has long recognized that the MPLA В. amended the common law with respect to claims predicated upon personal injury or death.

Repeatedly, this Court has acknowledged instances where the MPLA abrogates common law tort claims; however, those cases explicitly involved personal injury or wrongful death claims. "Thus, through the MPLA, the Legislature enacted a number of changes in the common law surrounding personal injury and wrongful death actions as applied to medical malpractice cases."61 In previously considering the MPLA's statute of limitations, it held, "that once a patient is aware, or should reasonably have become aware, that medical treatment by a particular party has caused a personal injury, the statute begins."62 Far more recently, the Court affirmed and built upon that analysis: "the Legislature intended the Wrongful Death Act statute of limitations to apply to causes of action for death sounding in medical negligence, and the MPLA to apply to causes of action for **personal**

⁶⁰ JA 125.

⁶¹ Hicks v. Ghaphery, 212 W. Va. 327, 339, 571 S.E.2d 317, 329 (2002) (emphasis added).

⁶² Gaither v. City Hosp., Inc., 199 W. Va. 706, 714, 487 S.E.2d 901, 909 (1997) (emphasis added).

injury sounding in medical negligence."⁶³ Here, there is no personal injury alleged and no negligence claim of any kind asserted.⁶⁴ As such, this action is *not* embraced by the MPLA's definition of "medical professional liability" because there is no "death or injury of a person."⁶⁵ Just as, Ms. Neidig would have no cause of action under W. Va. Code § 55-7B-4(a) because she has not suffered a "medical injury."

This Court, too, knows the difference between "personal injury" and common-language "injury" and has consistently used the phrase "personal injury"—both before and after 2015—to refer to the type of injuries comprised by MPLA claims. 66 And this Court, in responding to certified questions from the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit, defined "personal injuries" in relation to "the rather obvious fact that **injuries to the person both physical and mental** can occur in an almost infinite variety of patterns."67

⁶³ State ex rel. Morgantown Operating Co., LLC v. Gaujot, 245 W. Va. 415, 429, 859 S.E.2d 358, 372 (2021) (emphasis added).

⁶⁴ See generally JA 005–016.

⁶⁵ See W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(i) (emphasis added).

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