#### **RECORD NO. 24-27**

IN THE

SCA EFiled: Apr 22 2024 04:26PM EDT

# SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS Transaction ID 72801404 OF WEST VIRGINIA

**ELAINE NEIDIG**, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

#### VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM,

Defendant-Appellee.

ON A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE FOURTH CIRCUIT (RECORD NO. 22-2227)

#### BRIEF OF APPELLEE VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM

J. Tyler Mayhew (WVSB #11469) Bowles Rice LLP 101 South Queen Street Post Office Drawer 1419 Martinsburg, West Virginia 25402-1419

Tel: (304) 264-4209 Fax: (304) 267-3822 tmayhew@bowlesrice.com

Counsel for Valley Health System

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

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A plaintiff cannot avoid the MPLA through creative pleading. Appellant sued Valley Health for breach of contract and related claims, alleging that she "has been injured" by substandard mammograms that did not meet the imaging quality standards of Valley Health's accrediting body. Although Appellant characterizes this as a "consumer claim," whether Valley Health failed to meet the applicable standard of care when it performed her mammograms states a claim for medical professional liability under the MPLA, and not a consumer claim under the WVCCPA. The district court correctly determined that Appellant's claims fall squarely within the confines of the MPLA, despite her attempt to circumvent the statute.

Appellant seeks to avoid this common-sense conclusion by parsing a single phrase in the MPLA's definition of "medical professional liability," arguing that the Act "requires a personal injury or death," so her claims for "purely economic damages" were properly brought under the WVCCPA. Appellant's argument is defeated by the plain language of the same sentence of the very definition she relies upon. By its terms, the MPLA's definition of "medical professional liability" includes "any liability for damages resulting from" three types of claims: (1) "the death or injury of a person for any tort ... based on health care services rendered, or which should have been rendered, by a health care provider or health care facility to a patient"; (2) "breach of contract based on health care services rendered, or which should have been rendered, by any health care provider or health care facility to a patient"; and (3) "other claims that may be contemporaneous to or related to the alleged tort or breach of contract or otherwise provided, all in the context of rendering health care services." See W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(i). In other words, the MPLA

encompasses all claims for damages (whether sounding in tort, contract, or otherwise) that implicate the provision of "health care" to a "patient" and that necessarily depend upon proof that a "health care provider" or "health care facility" failed to follow the accepted standard of care. This is true regardless of how the case has been pled or the type of damages sought, and it applies to Appellant's claims for substandard mammograms in this case.

#### IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Valley Health agrees this case is suitable for Rule 20 argument because it involves an issue of first impression and fundamental public importance.

#### V. ARGUMENT

"It goes without saying that [a plaintiff] cannot avoid the MPLA with creative pleading." Damron v. Primecare Medical of West Virginia, Inc., No. 20-0862, 2022 WL 2078178, at \*3 (W. Va. Supreme Court, June 9, 2022) (memorandum decision). While Appellant now attempts to downplay the operative facts alleged in her Complaint, "her claims clearly arise from alleged deficient health care she received, which occurred in the context of medical professional liability." JA 125. Specifically, Appellant sued Valley Health for breach of contract, alleging that she received "deficient" mammograms, containing "serious image quality deficiencies" that posed a "serious risk to human health," because Valley Health staff "were not accurately positioning or compressing women's breasts" during the procedure. JA 9, 13. This is obviously a claim for "medical professional liability" that falls within the MPLA, regardless of how Appellant pleads it.

Appellant attempts to avoid this common-sense conclusion by parsing a single phrase in the MPLA's definition of "medical professional liability" that is not repeated anywhere else in the entire Act, while ignoring the very next phrase in the same sentence of that same definition that defeats her arguments. *See generally* Appellant Br. (arguing that "medical professional liability"

requires "death or injury of a person for any tort" while ignoring the definition's inclusion of "breach of contract based on health care services"). The MPLA plainly applies to claims for "death or injury of a person for any tort ... based on health care services," but it equally applies to claims for "breach of contract based on health care services" as well as "other claims that may be contemporaneous to or related to the alleged tort or breach of contract or otherwise provided, all in the context of rendering health care services." *See* W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(i). This plain reading of the statutory language "illustrate[s] the Legislature's intent for the MPLA to broadly apply to services encompassing patient care – not just the care itself." *State ex rel. West Virginia University Hospitals, Inc. v. Scott*, 246 W. Va. 184, 866 S.E.2d 350 (2021). As discussed below, the gravamen of Appellant's Complaint is a claim for "medical professional negligence" that falls within the MPLA, regardless of how it has been pled or the type of damages being sought, because Appellant's claim for breach of contract arises from the provision of "health care" to a "patient" and necessarily depends upon proof that a "health care provider" or "health care facility" failed to follow the accepted standard of care in performing her mammograms.

# A. Appellant's Breach of Contract Claim for Substandard Mammograms Fits Squarely Within the Act's Definition of "Medical Professional Liability" and Anchors Her Contemporaneous or Related Claims Within the MPLA.

"The failure to plead a claim as governed by the Medical Professional Liability Act ... does not preclude application of the Act." Syl. Pt. 5, in part, *Scott*, 866 S.E.2d at 350. This Court has consistently rejected attempts to plead around the MPLA when the facts giving rise to a plaintiff's claims relate to "health care" services rendered, or that should have been rendered, by a "health care provider" to a "patient." This includes attempts to recast MPLA claims as violations of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See, e.g., State ex rel. Charleston Area Medical Center, Inc. v. Thompson, 248 W. Va. 352, 888 S.E.2d 852 (claims for post-delivery mishandling of fetal remains, invasion of privacy fell within the MPLA); Scott, 866 S.E.2d 350 (corporate negligence claims for failure to purchase and utilize, failure to document, spoliation of evidence, and failure to report fell within the MPLA); State ex rel. PrimeCare Medical of West Virginia, Inc. v. Faircloth, 242 W.

exact same provisions of the WVCCPA at issue in this case. *Compare Blankenship*, 656 S.E.2d at 454, 456-459 (plaintiff's claims for "violations of the West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act, W. Va. Code § 46[A]-6-101 *et seq.*" fell within the MPLA) *to* JA 10-12 (violations of the WVCCPA, W. Va. Code § 46A-6-101 *et seq.*). Here, Count Three of Appellant's Complaint (Breach of Contract) falls within the MPLA's definition of "medical professional liability," which by its plain language includes claims for "breach of contract based on health care services," because it depends upon proof that her mammograms did not meet the standard of care. Appellant's other claims are "contemporaneous or related" to the alleged breach of contract and also fall within the MPLA's reach.

"By the plain language of the statute, the MPLA applies when the action arises from 'health care' rendered to 'a patient." State ex rel. Charleston Area Medical Center, Inc. v. Thompson, 248 W. Va. 351, 358, 888 S.E.2d 852, 858 (2023). The MPLA was first enacted by the Legislature in 1986 and has been amended multiple times over the years, usually to expand its scope in response to court decisions that did not apply the Act. Notably, in 2015, the Legislature amended the MPLA in the wake of Manor Care v. Douglas to significantly broaden the scope of "medical professional liability" and other definitions. See Scott, 866 S.E.2d at 357-359. The MPLA now defines "medical professional liability" to include not only claims for "breach of contract based on health care services," but also "other claims that may be contemporaneous or related to the alleged ... breach of contract or otherwise provided, all in the context of rendering health care services." W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(i). The "contemporaneous or related" language was added in response to

Va. 335, 835 S.E.2d 579 (2019) (claims for deprivation of state constitutional rights, negligent supervision, negligent training and retention, negligent and intentional infliction of emotional distress, general negligence, and wrongful death fell within the MPLA); *Minnich v. MedExpress Urgent Care, Inc. – West Virginia*, 238 W. Va. 533, 796 S.E.2d 642 (premises liability claim fell within the MPLA); *Blankenship v. Ethicon, Inc.*, 221 W. Va. 700, 656 S.E.2d 451 (2007) (claims for product liability, violations of the WVCCPA, fraud, and intentional infliction of emotional distress fell within the MPLA).

the *Manor Care* decision and "illustrate[s] the Legislature's intent for the MPLA to broadly apply to services encompassing patient care – not just the care itself." *Scott*, 866 S.E.2d at 359.

As a result, if a complaint alleges a breach of contract claim, arising from "health care" rendered by a "health care provider" or "health care facility" to a "patient," then that claim and all other claims that are either "contemporaneous to or related to" the health care claim, "all in the context of rendering health care services," meet the definition of "medical professional liability" and are governed by the MPLA. *See Scott*, 866 S.E.2d at 360. Relevant here, the Act defines "health care" broadly to include "any service performed by any health care provider" for "medical diagnosis," including but not limited to "positioning":

- (1) Any act, service, or treatment provided under, pursuant to, or in the furtherance of a physician's plan of care, a health care facility's plan of care, medical diagnosis, or treatment;
- (2) Any act, service, or treatment performed or furnished, or which should have been performed or furnished, by any health care provider or person supervised by or acting under the direction of a health care provider or licensed professional for, to, or on behalf of a patient during the patient's medical care, treatment, or confinement, including, but not limited to, staffing, medical transport, custodial care, or basic care, infection control, positioning, hydration, nutrition, and similar patient services; and
- (3) The process employed by health care providers and health care facilities for the appointment, employment, contracting, credentialing, privileging, and supervision of health care providers.

W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(e). A health care claim is the "anchor" claim that extends the MPLA to all other contemporaneous or related claims. *Scott*, 866 S.E.2d at 360.

Appellant's breach of contract claim is a "health care" claim that anchors her other claims within the statutory framework of the MPLA. *See* JA 13. As stated by the district court, "there can be no doubt that a mammogram falls under the West Virginia Legislature's definition for health care." JA 125. Indeed, Appellant herself refers to her mammograms as "health care." In

her Complaint, Appellant alleges "[t]he mammograms provided to [her] were not 'quality healthcare,'" but were instead "the worst kind of health care." JA 9-10.

Even looking past these admissions, Appellant's breach of contract claim arises out of "health care" rendered by a "health care provider or facility" to a "patient," and therefore constitutes a "medical professional liability" claim as those terms are defined by the MPLA:

- Appellant is a "patient" because she is "a natural person who receives or should have received health care from a licensed care provider under a contract, expressed or implied," W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(m);
- as a hospital, Valley Health is both a "health care provider" and a "health care facility," W. Va. Code §§ 55-7B-2(f) & (g);
- a mammogram, or breast X-ray exam, is a "service provided under, pursuant to, or in the furtherance of a physician's plan of care, a health care facility's plan of care, medical diagnosis, or treatment," W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(e)(1);
- Appellant's claim alleges deficiencies in the "service ... performed or furnished ... including, but not limited to ... positioning," W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(e)(2); and
- Appellant is claiming "liability for damages resulting from ... breach of contract based on health care services rendered, or which should have been rendered, by a health care provider or health care facility to a patient," W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(i).

Appellant's Complaint demonstrates this on its face. Appellant alleges she entered into a contract with Valley Health "exchanging mammography examinations and the resulting films for money." JA 13. She further alleges that Valley Health breached that contract by providing "deficient" mammograms, containing "serious image quality deficiencies" that posed a "serious risk to human health," and that she "has been proximately harmed and/or injured" as a result. *Id.* As support, Appellant alleges that Valley Health staff "were not accurately positioning or compressing women's breasts during mammograms," and therefore Valley Health "failed to meet the clinical image quality standards" established by its accrediting body. JA 9.

Putting aside the "labels and conclusions" in her Complaint, Appellant's breach of contract claim bears all of the hallmarks of an MPLA claim and will require the same elements of proof.

The Act requires the following "necessary elements of proof that an injury or death resulted from the failure of a health care provider to follow the accepted standard of care":

- (1) The health care provider failed to exercise that degree of care, skill and learning required or expected of a reasonable, prudent health care provider in the profession or class to which the health care provider belongs acting in the same or similar circumstances; and
- (2) Such failure was a proximate cause of the injury or death.

W. Va. Code § 55-7B-3. The gravamen of Appellant's Complaint is that Valley Health allegedly "failed to follow the accepted standard of care" when it performed her mammograms, and that "such failure was a proximate cause of the injury" at issue in her breach of contract claim. This is easily illustrated by examining two scenarios. First, if this Court were to strip out Appellant's allegations that "[t]he mammograms provided to [Appellant] were not 'quality healthcare'" and did not meet the standards of its accrediting body, would she still have a valid claim? Of course not. On the other hand, if this Court were to strip out Appellant's allegations about Valley Health's advertising and its representations about the quality of its services, would she still have a valid claim? Yes, albeit a time-barred claim under the MPLA.

Appellant's other causes of action also fall within the MPLA because they are "contemporaneous or relate to" her breach of contract claim and arise in "the context of rendering health care services." This Court's decision in *Scott* is instructive on this point. 866 S.E.2d 350. In *Scott*, the plaintiffs brought multiple claims against West Virginia University Hospitals ("WVUH"), including corporate negligence claims for "failure to purchase and utilize, failure to document, spoliation of evidence, and failure to report" after a nurse negligently allowed air bubbles to be introduced into their newborn child's intravenous tubing. *Id.* at 355. The plaintiffs

argued that because these causes of action "pertain to non-medical conduct made at the corporate level, they are not subsumed by the MPLA or its pre-suit notice requirements." *Id.* at 356.

Ultimately, this Court determined that the corporate negligence claims were "either an anchor claim or an ancillary claim that falls within the context of rendering health care," and were therefore governed by the MPLA. *Scott*, 866 S.E.2d at 360. The plaintiffs accused WVUH of negligence arising from their child's medical care, which is clearly a medical professional liability claim, and each of their corporate negligence claims were "based on the health care provided to the minor child." *Id.* at 361. For example, the plaintiffs' failure to document claim "assume[d] the cause of the [infant's] cardiac arrest and subsequent injuries, and the same must be proven to prevail on this claim. That does not change simply because a 'corporate policy' is invoked." *Id.*

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